

President Trump Cannot Hide His Tax Returns From Congress

By Seth Hanlon April 2019



President Trump Cannot Hide His Tax Returns From Congress

By Seth Hanlon April 2019

Contents

- 1 Introduction and summary
- 3 The law is crystal clear: Congress can obtain Trump's tax returns
- 9 Reviewing the president's tax returns is well within Congress' powers of oversight and investigation
- 11 6 reasons why Congress should obtain the president's tax records
- 19 Tax returns can provide important information not disclosed elsewhere
- 21 U.S. presidents should not expect privacy regarding their financial affairs
- 22 The hypothetical possibility of an unauthorized leak is no excuse
- 23 Conclusion
- 23 About the author
- 24 Appendix
- 27 Endnotes

Introduction and summary

Donald Trump has reneged on a promise he made nearly four years ago to release his tax returns publicly. By keeping his returns hidden, he has broken the precedent every president and major party nominee for president has followed over the past 40 years. His actions also heighten concerns about what he could be hiding.

The new Democratic majority in the U.S. House of Representatives has pledged to conduct the kind of vigorous oversight of the executive branch that has been lacking for the past two years. As part of that oversight agenda, House leaders have said that they intend to invoke their authority under the law to obtain Trump's tax returns from the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) and to review them. Trump's Treasury Department is threatening to withhold the returns from Congress and take the issue to the courts, where his team reportedly hopes to bog down the request in a "quagmire of arcane legal arguments." But the law could not be clearer: Congress' tax committees have the authority to obtain Trump's tax returns on request—and the U.S. Treasury Department has no basis for refusing. Secretary of the Treasury Steven Mnuchin would be violating the law if he directs the IRS to stonewall Congress.

This report explains why Congress has not only the clear authority to obtain Trump's tax returns, but also the constitutional responsibility to do so given his secrecy and his domestic and foreign business entanglements, as well as the powers of the office. It explains that the law giving Congress this authority was intended for situations such as this—to enable Congress to exercise oversight over the executive branch and monitor conflicts of interest. While regular citizens can expect that their tax returns will remain private, the president of the United States should have no such expectation, especially when he refuses to divest his domestic and international business holdings. Tax returns contain information not available elsewhere that could provide critical information to complete the president's financial picture.

Congress has multiple reasons to obtain and review President Trump's tax returns—reasons that are not only legitimate uses of its legislative powers, but also urgently needed, including:

- 1. To determine if U.S. national security is at risk of being compromised by the president's financial conflicts of interest
- To determine if Trump has conflicts of interests bearing on his trade and tariffs policies
- To determine whether the president is violating the U.S. Constitution by receiving benefits from foreign countries without Congress' consent
- 4. To determine whether he is benefiting from his tax policies despite his many public assertions to the contrary
- 5. To determine whether the IRS is adequately auditing the president
- To inform the consideration of additional disclosure requirements for candidates and officeholders

On Election Day 2016, the American people did not know that throughout 2015 and 2016, Donald Trump had been pursuing a Trump Tower Moscow deal that could gain him as much as \$300 million in profits. The public did not know about the deal, because Trump and his campaign repeatedly lied about it.² The extent of Trump's dealings with Russia, or with other foreign governments or interests, remains unclear—and Trump's finances in general are still murky.

Under these circumstances, it is not only appropriate but also vital to the functioning of our democracy for Congress to seek an answer to the basic question: Is President Trump working for the interests of the country, or himself? As this report explains, Congress cannot adequately answer that question without first obtaining and reviewing his tax returns.

The law is crystal clear: Congress can obtain Trump's tax returns

The tax code provides that Congress' tax committees—including the House Committee on Ways and Means, the Senate Committee on Finance, and the Joint Committee on Taxation (JCT)—are entitled to obtain any tax returns from the IRS that they request. 3 Section 6103(f)(1) of the Internal Revenue Code (IRC) reads:

Upon written request from the chairman of the Committee on Ways and Means of the House of Representatives, the chairman of the Committee on Finance of the Senate, or the chairman of the Joint Committee on Taxation, the Secretary [of the Treasury] shall furnish such committee with any return or return information specified in such request, except that any return or return information which can be associated with, or otherwise identify, directly or indirectly, a particular taxpayer shall be furnished to such committee only when sitting in closed executive session unless such taxpayer otherwise consents in writing to such disclosure.⁴

In short: The Treasury Secretary, which, for practical purposes, means the IRS as the relevant agency within the Treasury Department, "shall furnish" each of the tax committees with "any return or return information" requested in writing by its chairman. "Return information" includes related information such as the status of any IRS audits and the files containing documents produced in the process of audits. As law scholar Harry Litman explains, the term "shall" means exactly what it says: "The language ['shall'] is the well-established norm, across a range of legal settings, used to denote an absence of discretion on an official's part. It leaves no room for quibbles." As Litman notes, Congress' power to obtain tax returns parallels prosecutors' ability to inspect tax records upon an exparte order from a court, derived from Section 6103(i). In that context, "The practice is entirely routine and swift, usually taking less than a week," Litman writes. "I know of no attempt by the secretary of treasury ever even to argue discretion not to comply."

The only limitation that the statute places on the tax committees' ability to obtain tax returns is that, absent taxpayer consent, they must be in closed session when receiving the material—that is, the tax committees cannot receive tax returns from

the IRS in a setting open to the public. The law further empowers each of the tax committees to inspect the returns and return information "at such time and in such manner" as its chairman determines, including by delegating the task to "such examiners or agents as the chairman … may designate or appoint."

The law also requires the IRS to furnish tax returns or return information directly to other congressional committees upon their request. The other, nontax committees must be "specially authorized" to inspect the returns or return information by a House- or Senate-approved resolution. That resolution must "specify the purpose for which the return or return information is to be furnished and that such information cannot reasonably be obtained from any other source." These further restrictions do not apply to requests by the tax committees mentioned above.

While portions of the tax code may be byzantine, Section 6103(f) is straightforward: If Congress asks for any tax returns, the IRS must provide them.

The law was intended to enable Congress to perform oversight

Congress' authority to obtain tax returns from the IRS is an important part of its oversight powers—and the law establishing it was intended for situations just like the one Congress faces today. It was enacted to enhance Congress' investigative powers in the wake of past executive branch corruption: the infamous Teapot Dome scandal of the 1920s.

The legislative history behind the provision is richly described by University of Virginia School of Law Professor George Yin in a recent article. In sum, in 1922, President Warren Harding's secretary of the interior accepted bribes from businessmen in exchange for favorable no-bid leases on public oil reserves, including the Teapot Dome oil field in Wyoming. Word of the shady transactions got out in the press, and Congress began a multiyear investigation. As part of that investigation, Congress sought some of the tax returns of those involved in the scandal. But President Harding's successor, Calvin Coolidge, initially refused. At the time, Congress had no power to compel tax returns; the president had to approve any release, including to Congress. Although Coolidge ultimately granted Congress' request, this episode helped convince Congress that its requests for tax return information to aid investigations should not be dependent on the president's approval.

Around the same time, some members of Congress were also frustrated by their inability to obtain tax information from Treasury Secretary Andrew Mellon to determine whether his sprawling business interests influenced his recommendations to Congress on tax policy. Mellon was one of the country's wealthiest men, and the tax policy changes he recommended to Congress would surely have affected his finances; thus, members sought information on those interests to determine how much weight to place on his recommendations. 15 The Senate also launched an investigation into the Bureau of Internal Revenue, now known as the IRS, including whether it was showing favoritism toward businesses owned by Mellon. Senators found their investigation hampered by their reliance on the executive branch to obtain tax returns and by President Coolidge's hostility to the investigation.¹⁶

Against this background, Congress, via the Revenue Act of 1924, gave itself the power to compel the secretary of the treasury to furnish tax returns upon request.¹⁷ In approving the provision, legislators cited Congress' need to review tax return information "to evaluate Administration tax proposals, develop its own tax legislative initiatives, and carry out investigations."18 The provision faced opposition from some parties, including Coolidge, Mellon, and members of the business community, on the grounds that it could compromise taxpayer privacy. But in enacting the provision, Congress determined that access to tax returns was important for its legislative prerogatives, including gathering information for prospective legislation and performing oversight of the executive branch. The 1924 provision, with some amendments, is still in effect today.

In the 1970s, after abuses by the Nixon administration and prior administrations came to light, Congress strengthened the rules concerning tax return confidentiality. 19 In 1976, Congress codified the general rule that tax returns are confidential and can be disclosed only in circumstances where Congress has provided an explicit exception. For example, the IRS can share tax returns with state tax authorities and with law enforcement agencies. Congress also retained the power it had established in 1924 to obtain tax returns upon request, now codified in IRC Section 6103(f).²⁰

Congress invokes Section 6103(f) routinely to allow the JCT staff and Government Accountability Office to obtain tax data in bulk for the purpose of analyzing proposed tax legislation and performing audits of the IRS, respectively.²¹ The authority was used as part of congressional investigations as recently as 2013 and 2014, as the House Ways and Means Committee and Senate Finance Committee explored allegations of political bias in the IRS' handling of conservative-leaning groups' applications for recognition of tax-exempt status.²² The Senate Finance Committee received "extensive information under section 6103(f)," according to its final report on the investigation, while the House Ways and Means Committee obtained confidential information on at least several dozen nonprofit organizations.²³ (The committees' investigations and a separate U.S. Justice Department probe ultimately uncovered no evidence that political bias influenced IRS employees' actions, and it has since been revealed that left-leaning organizations received similar scrutiny.²⁴)

As far as we know, Congress has never invoked Section 6103(f) to obtain a president's tax returns; over the last four decades, it has not been necessary. Every president, and, indeed, every major party nominee for president, voluntarily released his or her tax returns to the public—until Donald Trump²⁵—and no recent president before President Trump maintained such extensive business holdings while in office. Instead, recent presidents have placed their investment portfolios in blind trusts.²⁶

The House Ways and Means Committee has the discretion to make tax information public

IRC Section 6103(f) also gives Congress the discretion to make tax returns or return information public in appropriate circumstances. Professor Yin describes this as Congress' public "informing function." The relevant statutory text reads:

(4) Agents of committees and submission of information to Senate or House of Representatives

(A) Committees described in paragraph (1)

Any committee described in paragraph (1) or the Chief of Staff of the Joint Committee on Taxation shall have the authority, acting directly, or by or through such examiners or agents as the chairman of such committee or such chief of staff may designate or appoint, to inspect returns and return information at such time and in such manner as may be determined by such chairman or chief of staff. Any return or return information obtained by or on behalf of such committee pursuant to the provisions of this subsection may be submitted by the committee to the Senate or the House of Representatives, or to both. The Joint Committee on Taxation may also submit such return or return information to any other committee described in paragraph (1), except that any return or return information which can be associated with, or otherwise identify, directly or indirectly, a particular taxpayer shall be furnished to such committee only when sitting in closed executive session unless such taxpayer otherwise consents in writing to such disclosure.

(B) Other committees

Any committee or subcommittee described in paragraph (3) shall have the right, acting directly, or by or through no more than four examiners or agents, designated or appointed in writing in equal numbers by the chairman and ranking minority member of such committee or subcommittee, to inspect returns and return information at such time and in such manner as may be determined by such chairman and ranking minority member. Any return or return information obtained by or on behalf of such committee or subcommittee pursuant to the provisions of this subsection may be submitted by the committee to the Senate or the House of Representatives, or to both, except that any return or return information which can be associated with, or otherwise identify, directly or indirectly, a particular taxpayer, shall be furnished to the Senate or the House of Representatives only when sitting in closed executive session unless such taxpayer otherwise consents in writing to such disclosure.²⁸

Note that while the nontax committees may submit taxpayer information to the full Senate or House "only when sitting in closed executive session," that secrecy requirement does not apply to the tax committees.²⁹ This is not an accident. Professor Yin's analysis of the historical record confirms that this language reflects a deliberate decision by Congress to grant the tax committees the discretion to make tax information public, since the tax committees' subject matter expertise best enables them to weigh the need for public disclosure against any taxpayer's privacy interests.³⁰

As a bipartisan Senate Finance Committee report stated: "Although the principal purpose of section 6103 is to protect taxpayer-specific information, section 6103 also clearly contemplates the need for the public disclosure in compelling circumstances, and it establishes a formal and carefully considered process for a release: a submission by one of the tax committees to the House or Senate." 31

Both House and Senate tax committees have used this authority recently. As part of their investigations of alleged IRS targeting of conservative groups several years ago, both the House Ways and Means Committee and Senate Finance Committee made certain taxpayer information public as part of their investigative findings. The Senate Finance Committee did so after "careful consideration," according to its final bipartisan report. Because public speculation about IRS political bias had "important

implications for our governmental and political institutions," the committee decided that it was important for the public to understand the underlying facts—and that "a fully informative report" required limited disclosures of certain taxpayer information that was otherwise confidential.³² The House Ways and Means Committee also released confidential taxpayer information when it referred its investigative findings on the IRS matter to the Justice Department.³³

The House Ways and Means Committee has exercised this discretion once before regarding a president's tax returns. In 1974, then-House Ways and Means Committee Chairman Wilbur Mills invoked Section 6103(f) to submit to the full House a report from the JCT regarding President Richard Nixon's tax avoidance. The report, which concluded that Nixon owed nearly \$500,000 in additional tax, contained information that Nixon had given to Congress but had not made public.³⁴

Thus, in requesting President Trump's tax returns and potentially releasing relevant information to the public, the House of Representatives is on solid legal ground and building on established precedents.

Reviewing the president's tax returns is well within Congress' powers of oversight and investigation

The Trump administration is reportedly preparing to refuse the House Ways and Means Committee's request, potentially relying on specious arguments.³⁵ The administration has dropped hints that it may claim that such a request would be beyond the scope of Congress' powers under the U.S. Constitution. The administration seemingly assumes that any request from the House would be made purely for "political purposes."³⁶ That is simply wrong: As explained below, Congress has numerous reasons for seeking to review the president's tax returns, each of which would be a valid exercise of Congress' legislative powers, including its powers of oversight and investigation.

Congress' oversight and investigation functions are integral to Congress' role in the constitutional framework—and its powers are broad. In *McGrain v. Daugherty*, a 1927 case arising out of one of Congress' investigations into the Teapot Dome scandal, the U.S. Supreme Court stated:

[T]he power of inquiry—with process to enforce it—is an essential and appropriate auxiliary to the legislative function. ... A legislative body cannot legislate wisely or effectively in the absence of information respecting the conditions which the legislation is intended to affect or change, and where the legislative body does not itself possess the requisite information—which not infrequently is true—recourse must be had to others who do possess it.³⁷

The court has emphasized the breadth of Congress' investigative power. In the 1957 case *Watkins v. United States*, it wrote:

The power of the Congress to conduct investigations is inherent in the legislative process. That power is broad. It encompasses inquiries concerning the administration of existing laws, as well as proposed or possibly needed statutes. It includes surveys of defects in our social, economic or political system for the purpose of enabling the Congress to remedy them. It comprehends probes into departments of the Federal Government to expose corruption, inefficiency or waste.³⁸

As long as Congress has a legitimate legislative purpose, it can exercise its investigative powers. Courts have made clear that Congress can investigate issues that may inform its consideration of new legislation as well as the administration of existing laws—such as the IRS' enforcement of the tax code. Congress does not need to have a legislative end goal in mind when conducting an investigation—of course, it cannot know in advance what an investigation will uncover—as long as the topic of the investigation is related to issues on which Congress could legislate.³⁹

There are some limitations on Congress' investigative power. As Watkins held, it cannot investigate solely for the purpose of alleging or proving crimes, or to usurp the judiciary's role in settling disputes. Congress also does not have the power to "expose the private affairs of individuals without justification in terms of the functions of Congress."40 But the Watkins case, and similar cases defining the limits of Congress' investigative power, involve compelled testimony from private individuals—not the most powerful official in the U.S. government.⁴¹ In *Kilbourn v.* Thompson, a 19th-century case involving a private citizen, the Supreme Court held that Congress has no power to investigate subject matters on which it has no power to legislate. But as the next section of this report discusses, the president's tax returns could provide critical information about many issues that aid Congress in performing its legislative functions, including contemplating new legislation and overseeing the administration of existing laws.

6 reasons why Congress should obtain the president's tax records

In order to exercise its legislative responsibilities, Congress must obtain Trump's tax returns. While not intended to be an exhaustive list, below are six key reasons why.

National security

Congress must review the president's tax returns to determine if America's national security is or might be compromised by financial conflicts of interest.

Congress' most urgent investigative priority is to seek answers to the question posed by House Speaker Nancy Pelosi (D-CA): "What does [Russian President Vladimir] Putin have on the President, politically, personally or financially?" President Trump has had an extensive business relationship with Russia, which Americans recently learned continued through the 2016 election despite repeated denials from Trump, his campaign, and administration. He has been inexplicably complimentary toward the Russian president, despite Putin's fundamental hostility to democratic values, as well as Russia's military aggression and brazen attacks on U.S. democracy.

In addition to his attempts to build a Trump Tower in Moscow, Trump also has a long history of doing business with Russian-linked individuals and entities.⁴⁴ He repeatedly partnered with the Bayrock Group, a real estate company run by a former Soviet official, and worked extensively with "convicted Russian mobster" Felix Sater.⁴⁵ Furthermore, Trump has received numerous loans from Deutsche Bank, which was involved in a \$10 billion Russian money laundering scheme.⁴⁶ In 2008, Russian oligarch Dmitry Rybolovlev purchased Trump's Palm Beach mansion for \$95 million, which was \$53 million more than Trump had paid for the property in 2004.⁴⁷ This sale sparked Sen. Ron Wyden (D-OR) to request records related to this sale from Treasury Secretary Mnuchin, noting that it is "imperative that Congress follow the money and conduct a thorough investigation into any potential money laundering or other illicit financial dealings between the President, his associates, and Russia."⁴⁸

A review of President Trump's tax returns could prove essential in order for Congress to evaluate whether he is compromised by Russian financial entanglements. In March 2017, to address concerns from Congress and the public about the obvious possibility of conflicts of interest, Trump's tax lawyers claimed that they had performed a review of his tax returns and that the returns showed no income, debts, or investments from "Russian persons or entities"—with a few known exceptions, including the 2008 Palm Beach mansion sale.⁴⁹ But Congress must not simply accept these claims without independently verifying them. Notably, the letter did not deny debts or investments from offshore entities that could be ultimately owned or controlled by Russians, a common tactic used by wealthy Russians seeking to move their money overseas.50

The Trump administration has also repeatedly tried to blunt the impact of U.S. sanctions on Russia. These attempts began even before Trump took office, when, in December 2016, then-national security adviser Michael Flynn called then-Russian Ambassador Sergey Kislyak to discuss sanctions.⁵¹ Flynn has since pleaded guilty to lying to investigators about these calls. 52 Recently, the administration has failed to provide a sufficient explanation for its decision to lift sanctions against companies owned by Russian oligarch Oleg Deripaska, a close Putin ally and former business associate of Trump campaign chairman Paul Manafort.⁵³ House Ways and Means Committee Chairman Richard Neal (D-MA) has twice written Treasury Secretary Mnuchin demanding that he address "the impact [sanctions relief] would have on the U.S. effort to end Russia's malign activities aimed at our country," and urging him to delay the lifting of sanctions until Congress has the opportunity to conduct a meaningful review.⁵⁴ Congress clearly has a legitimate legislative purpose in investigating whether the administration's sanctions policies are influenced by financial conflicts of interest. The findings of such an inquiry could inform Congress as it determines whether to overturn any given actions by the administration or curb the administration's discretion over sanctions policy.

The question of whether or not President Trump's potential conflicts of interest affect or have affected sanctions policy extends far beyond Russia. Most prominently, the Trump administration's failure to respond to the murder of Washington Post journalist Jamal Khashoggi, as well as its apparent complicity in the cover-up of the crime, raises stark questions in light of public statements and other reports about Saudi Arabia's role in President Trump's finances. 55

Trade and tariffs

Congress must also review the president's tax returns to determine if he has conflicts of interests bearing on his trade and tariffs policies.

International trade policy is another area where the president wields enormous power and where personal financial interests potentially influence his actions. Over many decades, Congress has delegated tremendous power over trade and tariffs to the president, effectively giving him the authority to negotiate and set tariff rates, subject to certain limitations. 56 Congress has also conferred Trade Promotion Authority (TPA), also known as fast-track authority, on the president, giving him the power to negotiate trade agreements that can be brought to Congress for approval under expedited procedures, including an up-or-down vote in each chamber with no opportunity for amendments. Last year, since Congress did not enact a resolution of disapproval, TPA was extended for three more years, through July 1, 2021.⁵⁷

But the authority over tariffs ultimately rests with Congress. If Congress were to determine that the president has too much power over trade policy, it could limit his discretion through legislation, including by reclaiming the power to set tariffs directly, revoking TPA, or otherwise modifying the president's authorities. Some members of Congress have introduced legislation to rein in the president's powers over trade.⁵⁸ In theory, Congress could also delegate more power to the president, if it so chose.

In contemplating any legislation to modify the president's powers over trade and tariffs or in considering trade agreements, Congress needs to know whether the president's actions and policies are influenced by personal financial interests, including business interests in foreign countries.⁵⁹ That assessment requires a complete and accurate picture of his business interests, including income and taxes paid in foreign countries, foreign assets, and foreign financial accounts.

Foreign emoluments clause

The president's tax returns could help determine whether the president is violating the U.S. Constitution by receiving benefits from foreign countries without Congress' consent.

The Constitution's foreign emoluments clause provides a safeguard against improper foreign influence over the U.S. government. It prohibits the president and other federal officials from receiving any "Emolument" from any "King, Prince, or foreign State"—without the consent of Congress. 60 The Constitution thus specifically entrusts Congress with determining whether a U.S. official's dealings with foreign states could compromise the integrity of the government. In 2017, a federal court dismissed lawsuits by private parties seeking to enforce the foreign emoluments clause with respect to President Trump, reasoning: "As the only political branch with the power to consent to violations of the Foreign Emoluments Clause, Congress is the appropriate body to determine whether, and to what extent, [the president's accepting payments from foreign governmental guests at his hotels] unlawfully infringes on that power. If Congress determines that an infringement has occurred, it is up to Congress to decide whether to challenge or acquiesce to [the president's] conduct."61 Another federal court has ruled that states can proceed with their lawsuits seeking to enforce the foreign emoluments clause, but the central responsibility for enforcing the clause still clearly rests with Congress.⁶²

Congress clearly cannot fulfill this responsibility without the ability to fully investigate payments or other financial benefits flowing from foreign governments to the president and his businesses. And the president's personal and business tax returns could shed light on the financial flows between the Trump Organization and foreign governments, or businesses owned by foreign governments. In addition to gifts or cash payments, foreign emoluments could theoretically come in many forms, including equity investments, loans, or loan forgiveness through business entities.

President Trump has said that his business's net profits from transactions with foreign governments totaled about \$150,000 in 2017 and \$200,000 in 2018.⁶³ But these claims simply raise more questions: He has provided no accounting or documentation of how his team calculated those amounts, nor the gross amount of payments from foreign governments.⁶⁴

Tax policy

Congress must review the president's tax returns to determine whether he is benefiting from his own tax policies—and to what extent—despite his many public assertions to the contrary.

As highlighted above, one of the reasons that Congress enacted Section 6103(f) was to enable itself to determine if Treasury Secretary Mellon's tax policy recommendations were colored by his personal financial interests. That determination is even more urgent with regard to President Trump.

President Trump repeatedly represented to Congress and the American people that the tax plan that his administration pushed through Congress in the fall of 2017 would increase his taxes. On September 27, 2017, Trump claimed that his tax plan was "not good for me. Believe me." On November 7, 2017, he claimed that he was a "big loser" under the tax legislation and that his accountant had told him that he would "get killed."66 On November 29, he claimed: "This is going to cost me a fortune, this thing, believe me. This is not good for me. ... I think my accountants are going crazy right now."67

Numerous skeptics observed that the tax bill included several changes that would be highly likely to benefit the president and his family—including a special new deduction for pass-through businesses such as the Trump Organization; exemptions for real estate from new limits on interest deductions and tax-free exchanges; a substantial reduction in the alternative minimum tax; and a massive cut in the tax on multimillion-dollar estates.⁶⁸ However, in part because members of Congress may have relied on the president's representations to the contrary in supporting the legislation, it is incumbent on Congress to verify whether those claims were true. Congress also needs to know to what extent Trump would benefit from making temporary aspects of the tax law permanent—including the pass-through deduction as Trump has recommended.⁶⁹ It should also seek to determine whether President Trump is benefiting from the regulatory actions that his Treasury Department has taken pursuant to the 2017 tax law, including the regulations concerning the passthrough deduction. Doing so could inform Congress as it decides whether to amend the tax law or repeal it in full or in part. A more complete picture of the president's finances would also inform Congress as it considers future tax policy recommendations from the administration, including those in his recently released budget. If the president is personally benefiting from his recommended tax policies, Congress could reasonably decide to give those recommendations less weight. To the extent the president is not paying a fair amount of tax for a person of his income and wealth, his returns could also highlight areas of the tax code in need of reform.

IRS oversight

Congress must determine whether the IRS is adequately auditing the president.

The president sits at the top of the executive branch, and federal agencies, including the IRS, ultimately answer to him. The president's power over the IRS creates the risk that the agency will give him preferential treatment. President Nixon publicly released his tax returns in 1973—setting the modern precedent that Trump has now broken—in order to quell speculation that the IRS was showing him favoritism.⁷⁰ "[T]he confidentiality of my private finances is far less important to me than the confidence of the American people in the integrity of the President," Nixon said as he released his tax returns and requested that Congress review them.⁷¹ In fact, Nixon's famous quote, "[P]eople have got to know whether or not their president is a crook. Well, I am not a crook," came in response to scrutiny over how little tax he paid.⁷² The subsequent report from the JCT found that the IRS had, in fact, failed to ensure Nixon paid what he owed. He agreed to pay nearly half a million dollars in back taxes.⁷³

In the 1970s, the IRS began a practice of automatically selecting presidents and vice presidents for audit every year, which the Carter administration said would help "allay any concerns in the public about the President's payments of taxes."⁷⁴ The IRS' practices for these audits are spelled out in its internal handbook, the Internal Revenue Manual.⁷⁵ But the IRS is not required to abide by these internal procedures, and there is no way for Congress or the American people to know whether the IRS is actually auditing the president adequately, or whether the president is exercising inappropriate influence.

In normal times, this might be a hypothetical concern. Recent White Houses have respected a firewall with the IRS on taxpayer enforcement matters. However, President Trump has demonstrated that he has little regard for established norms within the executive branch that protect against abuses of power. He has repeatedly sought to exert control over the Justice Department's probe into Russian interference in the 2016 campaign and spinoff investigations. ⁷⁶ He reportedly ordered a White House aide to direct the Justice Department to block a corporate merger involving CNN's parent company to punish the network for what he perceived as unfavorable news coverage of him.⁷⁷ He meddled in the Government Services Administration's decision on whether to relocate the new FBI headquarters, apparently to prevent a competing hotel from locating across the street from the Trump

International Hotel in downtown Washington, D.C. 78 Trump seems quite capable of trying to exert pressure on an IRS audit of him and his businesses—and if he did, there would be no way for Congress to know unless it obtains his audit file.

Even if there has been no direct interference, Congress must still ensure that the IRS is not treating the president differently or leniently, for any reason. The public disclosure of past presidents' tax returns allowed for Congress and the public to review them in connection with other information about the president's finances. Trump's refusal to disclose his returns makes that kind of verification impossible.

Ensuring that the IRS adequately audits the president is always important—but especially so when there is abundant evidence that a particular president has been less than honest in paying taxes. Investigative reports in the press based on isolated tax disclosures and other evidence have found that Trump may have avoided paying income taxes for up to 18 years based on a questionable \$916 million deduction; that he engaged for years in numerous aggressive schemes to reduce his family's estate and gift tax liability by hundreds of millions of dollars, including the use of a sham corporation and "instances of outright fraud"; and numerous other instances of aggressive tax avoidance, if not illegal tax fraud. 79 The president's former lawyer, Michael Cohen, recently testified to Congress that Trump did not release his tax returns publicly, because Trump believed that scrutiny of his returns would lead to audits, back taxes, and penalties.80 Under these circumstances, Congress would be derelict if it does not review Trump's returns and other return information, including audit files, to determine if he has been audited sufficiently.

H.R. 1

Congress should review the president's tax returns as it considers additional disclosure requirements for candidates and officeholders.

Congress is currently considering H.R. 1, the For the People Act, sweeping reform legislation to strengthen democracy and curb corruption. It includes a number of transparency measures to root out corrupting conflicts of interest in government and to empower voters with greater information about candidates—including requiring major party nominees for president and vice president to disclose 10 years of tax returns.81

Obtaining and reviewing President Trump's tax returns can inform Congress' consideration of H.R. 1 in important ways. For example, evidence of conflicts of interest or other problematic issues previously hidden from the public could clarify the urgency of the legislation. The review could also inform members of Congress as they consider important details in the bill, including the number of years for which candidates are required to disclose returns and whether they are required to disclose only personal returns or both personal and business returns, for example. 82 At the same time, as Tax Policy Center Senior Fellow Steven Rosenthal notes, reviewing the president's returns in closed session would help enable the House Ways and Means Committee evaluate claims that the legislation would impinge upon legitimate privacy interests and weigh any privacy interests against the much greater public interest in disclosure.83

Some of these issues are within House Ways and Means Committee jurisdiction, while others are within other committees' jurisdiction or overlap with the Ways and Means Committee's. But as Professor Yin testified, the House Ways and Means Committee is empowered to obtain tax returns to inform Congress on any issue—not only those within the committee's legislative jurisdiction. Permissible purposes for this committee obtaining and reviewing returns include "any responsibility given to Congress under the Constitution."84 If necessary, the House could also pass a resolution enabling the other committees to obtain the president's returns from the IRS.

Tax returns can provide important information not disclosed elsewhere

Tax returns can provide important information about a president's finances that is not disclosed elsewhere. When reviewed in connection with other documents or publicly available information, the returns can therefore help form a more complete picture of the president's finances and business dealings.

President Trump has filed the personal financial disclosures required of federal candidates and officeholders—Office of Government Ethics Form 278e. But as ethics experts have emphasized, those disclosures are far from perfect, and they lack information that would appear on tax returns, and vice versa. According to Norm Eisen, the Obama White House's special counsel for ethics, "The financial disclosure rules are the result of compromises and are antiquated. They were built for another day and time—not for the complicated financial entanglements of the Trump administration."85 Trump himself has pointed out the incomplete nature of the financial disclosure forms, once complaining that they failed to show the true extent of his wealth. 86 In filing his first disclosure in 2015, his campaign offered the disclaimer: "This report was not designed for a man of Mr. Trump's massive wealth."87

Trump's financial disclosures only date back to 2014, whereas the tax committees could obtain and review tax returns for earlier years. 88 Tax returns show income and losses, whereas financial disclosures show only income. Furthermore, business entities might not be listed on a financial disclosure if they produced losses and no longer had positive value during the filing period.⁸⁹ Tax returns show amounts of income and deductions to the dollar, whereas financial disclosures only report income streams within ranges, and with very large amounts only appearing as "greater than" the highest amount on the form. 90 Tax returns require detailed information on foreign assets and foreign accounts.⁹¹ And of course, only tax returns show the amounts of taxes a person has paid. They could potentially also reveal strategies for avoiding or evading taxes, including even belatedly disclosed offshore bank accounts.92

Moreover, information that has come to light has already revealed that at least one of Trump's financial disclosure forms was incomplete. On his report filed in June 2017, Trump failed to disclosure that he had reimbursed his attorney, Michael Cohen, to cover up extramarital affairs. Trump belatedly disclosed the payments on the following year's disclosure form after they were reported in the press.⁹³

Some commentators have pointed out that Trump's finances and business relationships will not be evident on the face of his tax returns. 94 That may be true, but the critical point is that the tax returns are only one piece of the puzzle. Piecing together Trump's finances and sprawling business interests requires all available sources of information. In recent testimony to the House Ways and Means Committee, Noah Bookbinder, the executive director of Citizens for Responsibility and Ethics in Washington, explained that in his experience as a public corruption prosecutor, tax returns "often provided important, sometimes even critical, information. But it was rarely if ever the case that tax return information standing alone provided the answer to questions we needed to ask. That information needed to be understood in context, compared with other information we had, and viewed as part of a larger picture."95

For a full picture, Congress would need both Trump's personal and business tax returns, since his personal returns total up the flows from the more than 500 business entities he owns. 96 These entities include S-corporations and partnerships, which file their own tax returns reporting income, deductions, assets, liabilities, foreign transactions, and other items.⁹⁷ The income, deductions, and other items reported on these entities' tax returns flows through to their owners' personal tax returns. For a person such as President Trump, who owns many business entities, his personal tax returns will essentially provide summary information, while the business returns will reveal much more information, including more specific information from each entity filing a return. As now-IRS Commissioner Charles Rettig explained in 2016:

For wealthy individuals, individual tax returns sometimes only provide a brief financial overview linked to numerous other conclusions and entities. To fully understand the financial status of Trump, one would likely need to see returns for multiple years, the work-papers for the individual returns and the returns for numerous related entities.98

Understanding Trump's financial picture requires untangling this complex web of entities by reviewing their tax returns in light of other available information.

U.S. presidents should not expect privacy regarding their financial affairs

Some Republican members of Congress have argued that the president, like other Americans, should have an expectation of privacy in his or her tax returns. But if the president of the United States has any privacy interest at all in his tax returns, it is overwhelmed by Congress' interest in informing itself and thereby fulfilling its function within the constitutional system of checks and balances. As the most powerful person in the world, the president should not expect any degree of privacy with regard to his or her business or financial matters; these matters are, by virtue of the unparalleled powers of the office, public issues. Presidents and presidential candidates are scrutinized about every aspect of their lives, including their careers, values, religion, family history, personal behavior, and personal habits. 99 The information on a tax return is far more important and far less personal than what we expect from candidates in other areas.

Tax returns are generally confidential—but only because Congress enacted a law making them so. And that law has exceptions, including Section 6103(f), enabling congressional oversight and investigations that may require tax returns and return information. If Congress determines that public disclosure of information from the president's tax returns is warranted, it can decide whether to exclude or redact information that unnecessarily impinges on the privacy interests of other taxpayers, such as business partners.

The hypothetical possibility of an unauthorized leak is no excuse

The administration has hinted that refusing to provide President Trump's tax returns to Congress would be justified, because Congress would inevitably "leak" information from the president's tax returns. 100 This argument is unfounded and illogical. As explained above, the House Ways and Means Committee is specifically given the authority to release tax returns publicly if it decides that, in Professor Yin's words, fulfilling its "informing function" is important enough. Since the law gives Congress the discretion to release returns and return information publicly, it would defy logic to suggest that the possibility of an unauthorized leak prevents Congress from obtaining returns in the first place.

Moreover, Congress handles confidential and highly sensitive information all the time, including classified information relating to national security. It could not make informed policy decisions or exercise oversight over the executive branch were this not the case.101

Congress has also demonstrated that it can receive confidential tax return information without leaking it. The JCT and Government Accountability Office routinely receive millions of tax return disclosures from the IRS.¹⁰² The staff of the JCT also reviews particular tax returns because it has the responsibility of approving very large tax refunds. 103 As Professor Yin notes, Congress entrusted the power to review tax returns to the tax committees because they have "handled the information responsibly and without incident."104

Congress is perfectly capable of taking precautions against unauthorized release of returns. In fact, the House Ways and Means Committee could decide not to take custody of the returns and instead to send members and designated agents to review them at the IRS, where the president's tax file is reportedly kept in a vault. 105 Alternatively, Congress could establish a similarly secure setting to review the returns on Capitol Hill. In any event, the chairman of the House Ways and Means Committee is given unfettered authority under IRC Section 6103(f) to determine the "time" and "manner" for his committee's review of the returns.

Conclusion

For two years, Congress failed to exercise its basic oversight responsibilities in the face of an administration rife with potentially compromising conflicts of interest and corruption. By keeping his tax returns hidden, President Trump has failed the basic standard of transparency set by his predecessors while maintaining a sprawling and largely opaque business empire, with business in and connections to many foreign countries.

To fulfill its constitutional role as a check on the executive branch, Congress must seek to answer the question: Is President Trump working for the interests of the country, or himself? Congress cannot adequately answer that question without a complete picture of Trump's finances and business and financial entanglements; his personal and business tax returns are essential to that inquiry, because they could provide information not available elsewhere. A century-old law provides Congress with the clear authority to obtain Trump's tax returns upon request and, should it so decide, to release the returns or information from them to the public. Congress' request would be well within its legitimate investigative and oversight powers. If Treasury Secretary Mnuchin chooses to defy Congress' request and keep Trump's tax returns hidden, he will simply be breaking the law.

About the author

Seth Hanlon is a senior fellow at the Center for American Progress, where he focuses on federal tax and budget policy. He received his J.D. from Yale Law School.

Appendix: 26 U.S. Code Section 6103(f)

The following is the text of Internal Revenue Code (26 U.S.C.) Section 6103(f), requiring the secretary of the treasury to furnish tax returns to Congress upon request and enabling public disclosure through submission by the committees to the full House or Senate. 106

(f) Disclosure to Committees of Congress

(1) Committee on Ways and Means, Committee on Finance, and Joint Committee on Taxation

Upon written request from the chairman of the Committee on Ways and Means of the House of Representatives, the chairman of the Committee on Finance of the Senate, or the chairman of the Joint Committee on Taxation, the Secretary shall furnish such committee with any return or return information specified in such request, except that any return or return information which can be associated with, or otherwise identify, directly or indirectly, a particular taxpayer shall be furnished to such committee only when sitting in closed executive session unless such taxpayer otherwise consents in writing to such disclosure.

(2) Chief of Staff of Joint Committee on Taxation

Upon written request by the Chief of Staff of the Joint Committee on Taxation, the Secretary shall furnish him with any return or return information specified in such request. Such Chief of Staff may submit such return or return information to any committee described in paragraph (1), except that any return or return information which can be associated with, or otherwise identify, directly or indirectly, a particular taxpayer shall be furnished to such committee only when sitting in closed executive session unless such taxpayer otherwise consents in writing to such disclosure.

(3) Other committees

Pursuant to an action by, and upon written request by the chairman of, a committee of the Senate or the House of Representatives (other than a committee specified in paragraph (1)) specially authorized to inspect any return or return information by a resolution of the Senate or the House of Representatives or, in the case of a joint committee (other than the joint committee specified in paragraph (1)) by concurrent resolution, the Secretary shall furnish such committee, or a duly authorized and designated subcommittee thereof, sitting in closed executive session, with any return or return information which such resolution authorizes the committee or subcommittee to inspect. Any resolution described in this paragraph shall specify the purpose for which the return or return information is to be furnished and that such information cannot reasonably be obtained from any other source.

(4) Agents of committees and submission of information to Senate or House of Representatives

(A) Committees described in paragraph (1)

Any committee described in paragraph (1) or the Chief of Staff of the Joint Committee on Taxation shall have the authority, acting directly, or by or through such examiners or agents as the chairman of such committee or such chief of staff may designate or appoint, to inspect returns and return information at such time and in such manner as may be determined by such chairman or chief of staff. Any return or return information obtained by or on behalf of such committee pursuant to the provisions of this subsection may be submitted by the committee to the Senate or the House of Representatives, or to both. The Joint Committee on Taxation may also submit such return or return information to any other committee described in paragraph (1), except that any return or return information which can be associated with, or otherwise identify, directly or indirectly, a particular taxpayer shall be furnished to such committee only when sitting in closed executive session unless such taxpayer otherwise consents in writing to such disclosure.

(B) Other committees

Any committee or subcommittee described in paragraph (3) shall have the right, acting directly, or by or through no more than four examiners or agents, designated or appointed in writing in equal numbers by the chairman and ranking minority member of such committee or subcommittee, to inspect returns and return information at such time and in such manner as may be determined by such chairman and ranking minority member. Any return or return information obtained by or on behalf of such committee or subcommittee pursuant to the provisions of this subsection may be submitted by the committee to the Senate or the House of Representatives, or to both, except that any return or return information which can be associated with, or otherwise identify, directly or indirectly, a particular taxpayer, shall be furnished to the Senate or the House of Representatives only when sitting in closed executive session unless such taxpayer otherwise consents in writing to such disclosure.

(5) Disclosure by whistleblower

Any person who otherwise has or had access to any return or return information under this section may disclose such return or return information to a committee referred to in paragraph (1) or any individual authorized to receive or inspect information under paragraph (4)(A) if such person believes such return or return information may relate to possible misconduct, maladministration, or taxpayer abuse.

Endnotes

- 1 Nancy Cook, "The plan to keep Trump's taxes hidden," Politico, February 5, 2019, available at https://www.politico. com/story/2019/02/05/trump-tax-returns-congress-strateav-1145767.
- 2 Mark Mazzetti, Maggie Haberman, and Michael S. Schmidt, "Moscow Skyscraper Talks Continued Through 'the Day I Won, Trump is Said to Acknowledge," The New York Times, January 20, 2019, available at https://www.nytimes. com/2019/01/20/us/politics/trump-tower-moscow-cohengiuliani.html.
- 3 26 U.S.C. Section 6103, Confidentiality and disclosure of returns and return information, Section 6103(f)(1), available at https://www.law.cornell.edu/uscode/text/26/6103 (last accessed March 2019).
- 4 Ibid.
- 5 26 U.S.C. Section 6103(b)(2).
- 6 Harry Litman, "To get Trump's tax returns, Democrats just need to send a letter," The Washington Post, February 20, 2019, available at https://www.washingtonpost.com/ opinions/2019/02/20/get-trumps-tax-returns-democratsjust-need-send-letter/?utm_term=.5b682c710c27 (citing section 6103(i)).
- 8 26 U.S.C. Section 6103(f)(4)(A). In the case of the Joint Tax Committee, the authority over how to inspect the returns rests with the chief of staff. The JCT technically comprises members of the two tax committees, but it is better known for its expert, nonpartisan staff.
- 9 26 U.S.C. Section 6103(f)(3).
- 10 George K. Yin, "Preventing Congressional Violations of Taxpayer Privacy," Tax Lawyer 69 (103) (2015), available at https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_ id=2628193.
- 11 Ibid., p. 119.
- 12 U.S. Senate, "Senate Investigates the 'Teapot Dome' Scandal," available at https://www.senate.gov/artandhistory/ history/minute/Senate_Investigates_the_Teapot_Dome_ Scandal.htm (last accessed March 2019).
- 13 Yin, "Preventing Congressional Violations of Taxpayer Privacy," p. 119.
- 14 Ibid., p. 121.
- 15 George K. Yin, "Congressional Authority to Obtain And Release Tax Returns," Tax Notes 154 (8) (2017): 1014, available at https://taxprof.typepad.com/files/154tn1013-yin. pdf; U.S. Senate Finance Committee, "Revenue Act of 1924: Hearings Before the Committee on Finance, United States Senate" (Washington: 1924), available at https://catalog. hathitrust.org/Record/000959741.
- 16 Yin, "Preventing Congressional Violations of Taxpayer Privacy," p. 121.
- 17 Revenue Act of 1924, 43 Stat. 253, 68th Cong., 1st sess. (June 2, 1924), Section 257, available at https://constitution.org/uslaw/sal/043_itax.pdf.
- 18 Yin, "Preventing Congressional Violations of Taxpayer Privacy," p. 123.

- 19 See Office of Tax Policy, "Report to The Congress on Scope and Use of Taxpayer Confidentiality and Disclosure Provisions, Volume I: Study of General Provisions" (Washington: U.S. Department of the Treasury, 2000), pp. 20-21, available at https://www.treasury.gov/resource-center/taxpolicy/Documents/Report-Taxpayer-Confidentiality-2010. pdf; John M. Crewdson, "IRS Balks at Divulging Political Files," The New York Times, May 12, 1976, available at https://www.nytimes.com/1976/05/12/archives/irs-balksat-divulging-political-files.html.
- 20 Office of Tax Policy, "Report to The Congress on Scope and Use of Taxpayer Confidentiality and Disclosure Provisions, Volume I: Study of General Provisions," pp. 22-23.
- 21 U.S. Congress Joint Committee on Taxation, "JCX-29-18, Disclosure Report for Public Inspection Pursuant to Internal Revenue Code Section 6103(p)(3)(C) for Calendar Year 2017" (Washington: 2018), available at https://www.jct. gov/publications.html?func=startdown&id=5088.
- 22 U.S. House of Representatives Committee on Ways and Means, "H. Rept. 113-114, Referral to the Honorable Eric H. Holder, Jr., Attorney general, of Former Internal Revenue Service Exempt Organizations Division Director Lois G. Lerner for Possible Criminal Prosecution for Violations of One or More Criminal Statutes Based on Evidence the Committee Has Uncovered in the Course of the Investigation or IRS Abuses" (Washington: 2014), p. 19, available at https:// www.congress.gov/113/crpt/hrpt414/CRPT-113hrpt414.
- 23 U.S. Senate Committee on Finance, "S. Rept. 114-119, The Internal Revenue Service's Processing of 501(c)(3) and 501(c)(4) Applications for Tax-Exempt Status Submitted by 'Political Advocacy' Organizations From 2010-2013" (Washington: 2015), p. 13, available at https://www.finance. senate.gov/imo/media/doc/CRPT-114srpt119-pt1.pdf; Yin, "Preventing Congressional Violations of Taxpayer Privacy."
- 24 The House Ways and Means Committee referred IRS Exempt Organizations Division Director Lois G. Lerner to the Justice Department for possible criminal prosecution. But the Justice Department ultimately found "no evidence that any IRS official acted based on political, discriminatory, corrupt, or other inappropriate motives that would support a criminal prosecution." The bipartisan Senate investigators agreed that "delinquent" management at the IRS led to inappropriate criteria in screening applications, but Republicans and Democrats reached different conclusions as to whether political bias played a role: Then-Republican committee chairman, Sen. Orrin Hatch, asserted that it did, but as the Democratic ranking member Sen. Ron Wyden, noted, the investigation uncovered no evidence that was the case. See Peter J. Kadzik, "Letter to Bob Goodlatte and John Conyers Jr.," U.S. Department of Justice Office of Legislative Affairs, October 23, 2015, available at http:// online.wsj.com/public/resources/documents/IRS1023.pdf; U.S. Senate Committee on Finance, "The Internal Revenue Service's Processing of 501(c)(3) and 501(c)(4) Applications for Tax-Exempt Status Submitted by 'Political Advocacy' Organizations From 2010-2013," p. 5-7 and 127-253; Mike DeBonis, "Liberal Groups got IRS scrutiny, too, inspector general suggests," The Washington Post, October 4, 2017, available at https://www.washingtonpost.com/ powerpost/liberal-groups-got-irs-scrutiny-too-inspectorgeneral-finds/2017/10/04/e9b6e3c4-a929-11e7-850e-2bdd1236be5d_story.html?utm_term=.9f5164f43444.

- 25 President Nixon began the modern practice of making his tax returns public, and every president since has also released his returns—though President Gerald Ford only released summary data. See Tax Notes, "Presidential Tax Returns," available at http://www.taxhistory.org/www/ website.nsf/web/presidentialtaxreturns (last accessed March 2019).
- 26 Matt O'Brien, "Donald Trump won't do what Ronald Reagan, George H.W. Bush, Bill Clinton and George W. Bush did," The Washington Post, November 15, 2016, available at https://www.washingtonpost.com/news/wonk/ wp/2016/11/15/ronald-reagan-did-it-george-h-w-bushdid-it-bill-clinton-did-it-george-w-bush-did-it-donaldtrump-wont-do-it/?utm_term=.2a00a0a3d0b3.
- 27 Yin, "Preventing Congressional Violations of Taxpayer Privacy," p. 127.
- 28 26 U.S.C. Section 6103(f)(4).
- 29 U.S. Senate, Committee on Finance, "The Internal Revenue Service's Processing of 501(c)(3) and 501(c)(4) Applications for Tax-Exempt Status Submitted by 'Political Advocacy' Organizations From 2010-2013," p. 13, footnote 9: "Contrast section 6103(f)(4)(A) with section 6103(f)(4)(B), which provides that information obtained by a committee other than the Finance, Ways and Means, or Joint Committee on Taxation may be submitted to the Senate or the House 'only when sitting in closed executive session" (unless the taxpayer consents). In the case of a submission to the House or Senate by one of the tax committees, in contrast, there is no equivalent requirement that the submission occur in closed session."
- 30 See Yin, "Preventing Congressional Violations of Taxpayer Privacy," pp. 126–127 and 132–136. The original provision authorized the tax committees to submit any "relevant or useful" information from tax returns to the full House or Senate, which would effectively make the information public. As Professor Yin emphasizes, Congress very deliberately left it within the tax committees' discretion whether to make tax returns or return information public: "Congress needed to preserve flexibility to report to the public on matters that might be included in the confidential information. The solution that Congress devised—one that should be viewed as fully intended ... was to rely upon committee discretion. ... The committees were given the discretion to determine what tax returns, if any, would be disclosed to the public." The 1976 changes removed the qualifier that the tax committees can only release "relevant or useful" tax return information to the whole House or Senate—though Yin interprets that change as having little or no effect, since the expectation that Congress would need to act within a proper legislative scope was already implicit.
- 31 U.S. Senate Committee on Finance, "The Internal Revenue Service's Processing of 501(c)(3) and 501(c)(4) Applications for Tax-Exempt Status Submitted by 'Political Advocacy' Organizations From 2010-2013," pp. 13-14.
- 32 Ibid., p. 13.
- 33 Yin, "Preventing Congressional Violations of Taxpayer Privacy." Professor Yin argues, however, that the House Ways and Means Committee did not have a legitimate purpose for releasing the groups' tax return information because most of the information was "completely unrelated" to the committee's oversight objective and no disclosure was necessary to support the claims the committee made in its referral letter.
- 34 George K. Yin, "Congress has the power to obtain and release Trump's tax returns," The Washington Post, February 7, 2017, available at https://www.washingtonpost. com/opinions/congress-has-the-power-to-obtain-andrelease-trumps-tax-returns/2017/02/07/aa53254cea63-11e6-80c2-30e57e57e05d_story.html?utm_ term=.2f2d4ce0bc52.

- 35 Cook, "The plan to keep Trump's taxes hidden."
- 36 See Alan Rappeport and Nicholas Fandos, "Mnuchin Vows to Protect Trump's Privacy if Tax Returns Sought," The New York Times, March 14, 2019, available at https://www. nytimes.com/2019/03/14/us/politics/mnuchin-donaldtrump-taxes.html. This potential line of argument was outlined by University of Iowa Law Professor Andy Grewal. See Andy Grewal, "Can Congress Get President Trump's Tax Returns?", Yale Journal on Regulation, February 13, 2017, available at http://yalejreg.com/nc/can-congress-getpresident-trumps-tax-returns/.
- 37 McGrain v. Daugherty, 263 U.S. 135, 174-175 (1927), available at https://supreme.justia.com/cases/federal/ us/273/135/.
- 38 Watkins v. United States, 354 U.S. 178, 187 (1957), available at https://supreme.justia.com/cases/federal/us/354/178/.
- 39 McGrain v. Daugherty at 178, citing In re Chapman, 166 U.S. 661, 681 (1897), available at https://supreme.justia.com/ cases/federal/us/166/661/: "We cannot assume on this record that the action of the Senate was without a legitimate object. ... [I]t was certainly not necessary that the resolutions should declare in advance what the Senate meditated doing when the investigation was concluded."; and citing People v. Keeler, 99 N.Y. 463, 482-483 (1885), available at https://casetext.com/case/people-ex-rel-mcdonald-vkeeler: "Where public institutions under the control of the State are ordered to be investigated, it is generally with the view of some legislative action respecting them, and the same may be said in respect of public officers." Watkins v. United States, p. 187: Congress' oversight power "encompasses inquiries concerning the administration of existing laws, as well as proposed or possibly needed statutes."
- 40 Watkins v. United States, p. 187.
- 41 Watkins v. United States; Kilbourn v. Thompson, 103 U.S. 168 (1880), available at https://supreme.justia.com/cases/federal/us/103/168/.
- 42 Office of House Speaker Nancy Pelosi, "Pelosi Statement on Special Counsel Indictment and Arrest of Trump Campaign Advisor Roger Stone," Press release, January 28, 2019, available at https://www.speaker.gov/newsroom/12519-4/.
- 43 Alex Ward, "Trump Tower Moscow, and Michael Cohen's lies about it, explained," Vox, February 27, 2019, available at https://www.vox.com/world/2018/11/29/18117910/ cohen-trump-tower-moscow-mueller-testimony.
- 44 The Moscow Project, "Bailed Out by Russia: 1987-2014," available at https://themoscowproject.org/collusionchapter/chapter-1/ (last accessed March 2019).
- 45 Timothy L. O'Brien, "Trump, Russia and a Shadowy Business Partnership," Bloomberg, June 21, 2017, available at https:// www.bloomberg.com/opinion/articles/2017-06-21/ trump-russia-and-those-shadowy-sater-deals-at-bayrock; Matt Zapotosky and others, "Michael Cohen concludes his testimony: 'I will not sit back", The Washington Post, February 27, 2019, available at https://www.washingtonpost.com/world/national-security/michael-cohentestimony/2019/02/27/089664f0-39fb-11e9-a2cd-307b06d0257b_story.html?noredirect=on&utm_term=. f982bbc754fe.
- 46 Allan Smith, "Trump's long and winding history with Deutsche Bank could now by at the center of Robert Mueller's investigation," Business Insider, December 8, 2017, available at https://www.businessinsider.com/ trump-deutsche-bank-mueller-2017-12; John O'Donnell, "The 'mirror' trades that caught Deutsche in Russian web," Reuters, available at https://www.reuters.com/article/usdeutsche-mirrortrade-probe-scheme/the-mirror-tradesthat-caught-deutsche-in-russian-web-idUSKBN15F23H.

- 47 Dan Glaister, "Donald Trump sells Florida mansion for record sum," The Guardian, July 17, 2008, available at https:// www.theguardian.com/world/2008/jul/17/donaldtrump.
- 48 Ron Wyden "Letter to Steven T. Mnuchin," U.S. Senate, February 9, 2018, available at https://www.finance.senate. gov/imo/media/doc/020918%20-Mnuchin%202008%20 Palm%20Beach%20Trump%20Sale%20Letter.pdf.
- 49 Sheri A. Dillon and William F. Nelson, "Re. Transactions with Russian counterparties reported on your U.S. federal income tax returns," Morgan Lewis, March 8, 2017, available at http://www.wsj.com/public/resources/documents/ $Trump Tax Russia Letter 2017.pdf? mod = article_in line.$
- 50 Nektaria Stamouli and Drew Hinshaw, "U.S. Takes on Russia's Favorite Money Haven: Cyprus," The Wall Street Journal, September 30, 2018, available at https://www.wsj. com/articles/u-s-takes-on-russias-favorite-money-havencvprus-1538316001.
- 51 Gregor Aisch, K.K. Rebecca Lai, and Karen Yourish, "Timeline: What We Now Know About Flynn's Phone Calls With Russia," The New York Times, available at https://www. nytimes.com/interactive/2017/02/14/us/politics/flynn-callrussia-timeline.html (last accessed March 2019).
- 52 Michael D. Shear and Adam Goldman, "Michael Flynn Pleads Guilty to Lying to the F.B.I. and Will Cooperate With Russia Inquiry," The New York Times, December 1, 2017, available at https://www.nytimes.com/2017/12/01/us/ politics/michael-flynn-guilty-russia-investigation.html.
- 53 Josh Meyer, "Mueller reveals closer Manafort ties to Russian oligarch," Politico, June 27, 2018, available at https://www. politico.com/story/2018/06/27/paul-manafort-muellerrussia-oleg-deripaska-680630.
- 54 House Ways and Means Committee, "House Chairs Demand Answers on Sanctions Relief for Russian Oligarch," Press release, January 8, 2019, available at https://waysandmeans.house.gov/media-center/press-releases/ house-chairs-demand-answers-sanctions-relief-russianoligarch; House Ways and Means Committee, "Neal Calls on Secretary Mnuchin to Delay Removal of Russian Sanctions to Allow for Meaningful Congressional Review," Press release, January 10, 2019, available at https://waysandmeans.house.gov/media-center/press-releases/neal-callssecretary-mnuchin-delay-removal-russian-sanctions-allow.
- 55 David A. Fahrenthold and Jonathan O'Connell, "I like them very much: Trump has long-standing business ties with Saudis, who have boosted his hotals since he took office," The Washington Post, October 11, 2018, available at https://www.washingtonpost.com/ politics/i-like-them-very-much-trump-has-long-standingbusiness-ties-with-saudis-who-have-boosted-his-hotelssince-he-took-office/2018/10/11/0870df24-cd67-11e8a360-85875bac0b1f_story.html?utm_term=.9970f3ff5c03; Mark Landler, "In Extraordinary Statement, Trump Stands With Saudis Despite Khashoggi Killing," The New York Times, November 20, 2018, available at https://www.nytimes. com/2018/11/20/world/middleeast/trump-saudi-khashogai.html.
- 56 See, for example, Timothy Meyer and Ganesh Sitaraman, "The Power to Declare Trade War," Lawfare, March 23, 2018, available at https://www.lawfareblog.com/power-declaretrade-war; Congressional Research Service, "Presidential Authority over Trade: Imposing Tariffs and Duties" (Washington: 2016), available at https://crsreports.congress.gov/ product/pdf/R/R44707.
- 57 Congressional Research Service, "Trade Promotion Authority (TPA): Frequently Asked Questions" (Washington: 2019), available at https://crsreports.congress.gov/product/ pdf/R/R43491.

- 58 See, for example, Mike Lee, "Make Trade Policy Accountable Again," Forbes, January 19, 2017, available at https:// www.forbes.com/sites/realspin/2017/01/19/make-tradepolicy-accountable-again/#3e3c16f3503c.
- 59 For example, Trump's businesses reportedly benefit from partnerships connected to the Chinese government. See Jonathan O'Connell and David A. Fahrenthold, "As tariffs near, Trump's business empire retains ties to China," The Washington Post, July 5, 2018, available at https://www. washingtonpost.com/politics/as-tariffs-near-trumps-business-empire-includes-china-ties/2018/07/05/9bfd1056-7956-11e8-aeee-4d04c8ac6158_story.html?utm_ term=.37d16c20d879.
- 60 U.S. Constitution, Article 1, Section 9, Clause 8, available at https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/GPO-CONAN-1992/ pdf/GPO-CONAN-1992-6.pdf.
- 61 Memorandum Decision and Order, Citizens for Responsibility and Ethics et al v. Trump. 17 Civ. 458-GBD (S.D.N.Y.. December 17, 2017), available at https://www.politico. com/f/?id=00000160-7b12-dcd4-a96b-7f3bae5a0000.
- 62 David A. Fahrenthold and Jonathan O'Connell, "D.C., Maryland can proceed with lawsuit alleging Trump violated emoluments clauses," The Washington Post, March 28, 2018, available at https://www.washingtonpost.com/politics/ dc-maryland-may-proceed-with-lawsuit-alleging-trumpviolated-emoluments-clause/2018/03/28/0514d816-32ae-11e8-8bdd-cdb33a5eef83_story.html?utm_ term=.0596b03a92b4.
- 63 CNBC, "Trump's company says it donated nearly \$200,000 to US Treasury," February 25, 2019, available at https:// www.cnbc.com/2019/02/25/trumps-company-says-itdonated-nearly-200000-to-us-treasury.html.
- 64 Trump's lawyers have asserted that the emoluments clause merely forbids gratuitous gifts from foreign governments and does not apply to "routine business transactions"—for example, foreign governments renting hotel rooms at Trump's hotels. See The New York Times, "Donald Trump's News Conference: Full Transcript and Video," January 11, 2017, available at https://www.nvtimes.com/2017/01/11/ us/politics/trump-press-conference-transcript.html.
- 65 Trump White House, "Remarks by President Trump at Tax Reform Event," September 27, 2017, available at https:// www.whitehouse.gov/briefings-statements/remarkspresident-trump-tax-reform-event/.
- 66 Mike DeBonis and Ed O'Keefe, "Trump, wooing Democrats, says he asked accountant how he'd be affected by GOP tax bill," The Washington Post, November 7, 2017, available at https://www.washingtonpost.com/business/economy/ conservatives-demand-changes-to-house-gop-taxbill/2017/11/07/e70046a4-c3cb-11e7-afe9-4f60b5a6c4a0_ story.html?utm_term=.96f3a4f20751; Leigh Ann Caldwell, "Trump Tells Democrats He'll 'Get Killed' Financially in GOP Tax Bill," NBC News, November 7, 2017, available at https:// www.nbcnews.com/politics/congress/trump-tells-democrats-he-II-get-killed-financially-without-estate-n818706.
- 67 Glenn Kessler, "President Trump says the tax bill will 'cost me a fortune.' That's false," The Washington Post, November 30, 2017, available at https://www.washingtonpost.com/ news/fact-checker/wp/2017/11/30/president-trumpsays-the-tax-bill-will-cost-me-a-fortune-thats-false/?utm_ term=.d3eaf620de22.
- 68 William Rice, "The Case for Congress Obtaining Trump's Tax Returns" (Washington: Americans for Tax Fairness, 2018), pp. 7-10, available at https://americansfortaxfairness.org/ wp-content/uploads/ATF-The-Case-for-Congress-Obtaining-Trumps-Tax-Returns-12-18-18-FINAL.pdf.

- 69 See Executive Office of the President Office of Management and Budget, "Statement of Administration Policy," September 26, 2018, available at https:// www.whitehouse.gov/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/ saphr6760hr6757hr6756 hr20180926.pdf (endorsing legislation making the individual provisions of the 2017 tax law permanent). President Trump's recently released budget assumes that the individual and estate tax provisions of the 2017 tax law will be made permanent. See Office of Management and Budget, "President's Budget FY 2020, Analytical Perspectives" (Washington: 2019), p. 149, available at https://www.whitehouse.gov/omb/budget/.
- 70 William D. Samson, "President Nixon's Troublesome Tax Returns," TaxNotes, April 11, 2005, available at http://www.taxhistory.org/thp/readings.nsf/cf7c-9c870b600b9585256df80075b9dd/f8723e3606cd79ec852 56ff6006f82c3?OpenDocument.
- 71 The New York Times, "Nixon's Statement on His Financial Affairs," December 9, 1973, available at https://www. nytimes.com/1973/12/09/archives/nixons-statement-onhis-financialaffairs-tax-review-by.html.
- 72 Mitchell Zuckoff, "Why We Ask to See Candidates' Tax Returns," The New York Times, August 5, 2016, available at https://www.nytimes.com/2016/08/06/opinion/why-weask-to-see-candidates-tax-returns.html.
- 73 Samson, "President Nixon's Troublesome Tax Returns," The JCT was called the Joint Congressional Committee on Internal Revenue Taxation at the time.
- 74 U.S. Congress Joint Committee on Taxation, "JCX 3-19, Background Regarding the Confidentiality And Disclosure Of Federal Tax Returns" (Washington: 2019), pp. 20-21, available at https://www.jct.gov/publications. html?func=startdown&id=5159.
- 75 Ibid., pp. 18-22.
- 76 Natasha Bertrand, "The President Humiliates His Own Department of Justice," The Atlantic, January 13, 2009, available at https://www.theatlantic.com/politics/ archive/2019/01/trumps-war-on-the-department-of-justice/580051/; Matt Miller and Mimi Rocah, "Trump's Most Blatant Assault Yet on the Rule of Law," Daily Beast, December 28, 2018, available at https://www.thedailybeast.com/ trumps-most-blatant-assault-on-the-rule-of-law-yet.
- 77 Jane Mayer, "The Making of the Fox News White House," The New Yorker, March 11, 2019, available at https://www. newyorker.com/magazine/2019/03/11/the-making-of-thefox-news-white-house.
- 78 Lauren Fox, "Trump more involved in stopping FBI HQ move than previously known, emails show," CNN, October 19, 2018, available at https://www.cnn.com/2018/10/18/ politics/trump-fbi-building/index.html.

- 79 David Barstow and others, "Donald Trump Tax Records Show He Could Have Avoided Taxes for Nearly Two Decades, The Times Found," The New York Times, October 1, 2016, available at https://www.nytimes.com/2016/10/02/ us/politics/donald-trump-taxes.html; David Barstow. Susanne Craig, and Russ Buettner, "Trump Engaged in Suspect Tax Schemes as He Reaped Riches From His Father," The New York Times, October 2, 2018, available at https:// www.nytimes.com/interactive/2018/10/02/us/politics/ donald-trump-tax-schemes-fred-trump.html; Danny Hakim, "New York Attorney General Sues Trump Foundation After 2-Year Investigation," The New York Times, June 14, 2018, available at https://www.nytimes.com/2018/06/14/ nyregion/trump-foundation-lawsuit-attorney-general.ht ml?hp&action=click&pgtype=Homepage&clickSource=s tory-heading&module=first-column-region®ion=topnews&WT.nav=top-news; Steven M. Rosenthal, "Did Donald Trump take advantage of the Gingrich-Edwards payroll tax loophole?", Tax Policy Center, October 7, 2016, available at https://www.taxpolicycenter.org/taxvox/diddonald-trump-take-advantage-gingrich-edwards-payrolltax-loophole; United Press International, "Celebrities Listed as Buyers in Sales Tax Evasion Case," Los Angeles Times, November 20, 1986, available at http://articles.latimes. com/1986-11-20/news/mn-12088_1_sales-tax-evasioncase; Toby Eckert, "Online Trump store collecting New York sales tax after criticism," Politico, May 3, 2018, available at https://www.politico.com/story/2018/05/03/trump-storeonline-sales-tax-517007.
- 80 Steve Rosenthal, @stevertax, February 27, 2019, 2:22 p.m. ET, Twitter, available at https://twitter.com/stevertax/status/1100883854045388800.
- 81 For the People Act of 2019, H.R. 1, 116th Cong. 1st sess., Section 10001, available at https://www.congress. gov/bill/116th-congress/house-bill/1/text#toc-H1E9537474667404A919FA47B5D5A495B.
- 82 Noah Bookbinder, "Hearing Before the House Committee on Ways and Means Oversight Subcommittee," February 7, 2019, p. 4, available at https://waysandmeans.house.gov/ sites/democrats.waysandmeans.house.gov/files/documents/Bookbinder%20Testimony.pdf.
- 83 Steven M. Rosenthal, "The Value of Presidential and Vice-Presidential Tax Returns to the Public and Congress: Testimony before the Subcommittee on Oversight, Committee on Ways and Means, US House of Representatives," Tax Policy Center, February 7, 2019, p. 8, available at https:// www.taxpolicycenter.org/publications/value-presidentialand-vice-presidential-tax-returns-public-and-congress.
- 84 U.S. House of Representatives Committee on Ways and Means, Subcommittee on Oversight, "Hearing on Legislative Proposals and Tax Law Related to Presidential and Vice Presidential Tax Returns" (Washington: 2019), pp. 20, 79, available at https://waysandmeans.house.gov/sites/ democrats.waysandmeans.house.gov/files/documents/ Transcript%20-%20Final.pdf; George K. Yin, "Testimony for Hearing Before the Oversight Subcommittee of the House Committee on Ways and Means on Legislative Proposals and Tax Law Related to Presidential and Vice-Presidential Tax Returns," February 7, 2019, p. 5, available at https:// waysandmeans.house.gov/sites/democrats.waysandmeans.house.gov/files/documents/Yin%20Testimony.pdf.
- 85 Chase Peterson-Withorn, "What You (Don't) Know About Trump: The Huge Holes In Disclosure Rules And How They Could Be Fixed," Forbes, October 24, 2018, available at https://www.forbes.com/sites/chasewithorn/2018/10/24/what-you-dont-know-about-trump-thehuge-holes-in-disclosure-rules-and-how-they-could-befixed/#3139419275dc.
- 86 Chase Peterson-Withorn, "Trump Just Said His Financial Disclosure Form Is Better Than His Tax Returns, He Once Complained It Doesn't Tell the Full Story," Forbes, November 8, 2018, available at https://www.forbes.com/sites/ chasewithorn/2018/11/08/trump-just-said-his-financialdisclosure-form-is-better-than-his-tax-returns-he-oncecomplained-it-doesnt-tell-the-full-story/#3915706f59b9.

- 87 Donald J. Trump for President Inc., "Donald J. Trump Files Personal Financial Disclosure Statement With Federal Election Commission," Press release, July 15, 2015, available at https://assets.donaldjtrump.com/DJT_PFD_Statement_(1). pdf.
- 88 Ibid.; Donald J. Trump, Office of Government Ethics Form 278e, filed July 15, 2015, available at https://www. documentcloud.org/documents/3035802-Donald-Trump-2015-Financial-Disclosure.html.
- 89 Rosenthal, "The Value of Presidential and Vice-Presidential Tax Returns to the Public and Congress": Norman Eisen and Richard W. Painter, "What Trump's Tax Returns Could Tell Us About His Dealings with Russia," Politico, October 31, 2016, available at https://www.politico.com/magazine/ story/2016/10/donald-trump-taxes-russia-214405.
- 90 Bookbinder, "Hearing Before the House Committee on Ways and Means Oversight Subcommittee," p. 3.
- 91 Rosenthal, "The Value of Presidential and Vice-Presidential Tax Returns to the Public and Congress," p. 5.
- 92 Ibid.
- 93 Peter Overby, "Trump Acknowledges Financial 'Liability' For Stormy Daniels Payment," NPR, May 16, 2018, available at https://www.npr.org/2018/05/16/611660586/trump-acknowledges-financial-liability-for-stormy-daniels-payment.
- 94 "There's No Guarantee Trump's Tax Returns Would Reveal Russia Ties," ProPublica, March 9, 2017, https://www. propublica.org/article/theres-no-guarantee-trumps-taxreturns-would-reveal-russia-ties.
- 95 Bookbinder, "Hearing Before the House Committee on Ways and Means Oversight Subcommittee."
- 96 Dillon and Nelson, "Re. Transactions with Russian counterparties reported on your U.S. federal income tax returns."
- 97 See IRS, "Form 1065," available at https://www.irs.gov/pub/ irs-pdf/f1065.pdf (last accessed March 2019); IRS, "Form 1120-S," available at https://www.irs.gov/pub/irs-access/ f1120s_accessible.pdf (last accessed March 2019).
- 98 Charles Rettig, "No Ordinary Audit: Donald Trump Is Facing The IRS 'Wealth Squad'', Forbes, February 28, 2016, available at https://www.forbes.com/sites/irswatch/2016/02/28/ no-ordinary-audit-donald-trump-is-facing-the-irs-wealthsquad/#4a8488f74d71.
- 99 See, for example, "Boxers or briefs? Michelle Obama reveals the answer," USA Today, October 19, 2012, available at https://www.usatoday.com/story/entertainment/2012/10/19/michelle-obama-answers-boxers-orbriefs-question/1644219/.

- 100 Cook, "The plan to keep Trump's taxes hidden."
- 101 See, for example, Kate Martin, "Congressional Access to National Security Information" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2007), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/general/reports/2007/03/30/2776/ congressional-access-to-classified-national-security-information/; Project on Government Oversight, "Tip Sheet on Congressional Access to Classified, Sensitive, or Privileged Information" (Washington: 2018), available at https://docs. pogo.org/resource/2018/7_tip_sheet_on_congl_access_ to_info.pdf; Frederick M. Kaiser, "Protection of Classified Information by Congress: Practices and Proposals" (Washington: Congressional Research Service, 2011), available at https://fas.org/sgp/crs/secrecy/RS20748.pdf.
- 102 See, for example, U.S. Congress Joint Committee on Taxation, "JCX-29-18, Disclosure Report for Public Inspection Pursuant to Internal Revenue Code Section 6103(p)(3)(C) for Calendar Year 2017." reporting millions of disclosures to the GAO and JCT in 2017.
- 103 U.S. Congress Joint Committee on Taxation, "Joint Committee Statutory Refund Review," available at https://www. jct.gov/about-us/refund-review.html (last accessed March
- 104 George K. Yin, "Testimony for Hearing Before the Oversight Subcommittee of the House Committee on Ways and Means on Legislative Proposals and Tax Law Related to Presidential and Vice-Presidential Tax Returns," February 7, 2019, available at https://waysandmeans.house.gov/sites/ democrats.waysandmeans.house.gov/files/documents/ Yin%20Testimony.pdf.
- 105 Michael Grunwald, "The IRS Is building a Safe to Hold Trump's Tax Returns," Politico, November 15, 2017, available at https://www.politico.com/magazine/story/2017/11/15/ iohn-koskinen-taxes-215830.
- 106 26 U.S.C. Section 6103(f).

Our Mission

The Center for American Progress is an independent, nonpartisan policy institute that is dedicated to improving the lives of all Americans, through bold, progressive ideas, as well as strong leadership and concerted action. Our aim is not just to change the conversation, but to change the country.

Our Values

As progressives, we believe America should be a land of boundless opportunity, where people can climb the ladder of economic mobility. We believe we owe it to future generations to protect the planet and promote peace and shared global prosperity.

And we believe an effective government can earn the trust of the American people, champion the common good over narrow self-interest, and harness the strength of our diversity.

Our Approach

We develop new policy ideas, challenge the media to cover the issues that truly matter, and shape the national debate. With policy teams in major issue areas, American Progress can think creatively at the cross-section of traditional boundaries to develop ideas for policymakers that lead to real change. By employing an extensive communications and outreach effort that we adapt to a rapidly changing media landscape, we move our ideas aggressively in the national policy debate.

